
INVESTIGATIONS OFFICER, 
Claimant, 

v. 
GERALD YONTEK, et al., 

Respondents. 

DECISION OF 
THE INDEPENDENT 
ADMINISTRATOR 

This matter concerns charges filed by the Investigations 
Officer, Charles M. Carberry, against Gerald Yontek ("Yontek"), 
Vilius Jurevicius ("Jurevicius"), Barbara Walden ("Walden"), Paul 
LaBuda ("LaBuda"), Ed Thomas ("Thomas"), John Letner ("Letner"), 
Daniel Kolar ("Kolar"), Douglas Schuetz ("Schuetz"), Stephen R. 
Kapelka ("Kapelka"), Philip Lukic ("Lukic"), Rudy Anthony Nativio 
("Nativio") and Harold Friedman ("Friedman"). With the exception 
of Friedman, Respondents are, and during all times relevant to this 
matter were, Executive Board members or Business Agents of 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters Local Union 507 ("IBT Local 
507") in Cleveland, Ohio. (For ease of reference, these 
Respondents are sometimes referred to as "Respondent Officers and 
Agents".) Friedman was formerly President of IBT Local 507, but is 
currently barred from serving in that capacity by virtue of 29 
U.S.C. §504.1 

A hearing was held before me on these charges, and post-
hearing submissions were received. All parties were represented by 

i The circumstances behind this debarment, as well as Friedman's 
earlier one-year suspension, are discussed infra at pp. 5-7 



counsel at the hearing.^ Having reviewed the evidence and the 
post-hearing submissions, I find that the Investigations Officer 
has sustained his just cause burden of proving the charges against 
all Respondents. United States v. IBT, 754 F. Supp. 333, 337-338 
(S.D.N.Y. 1990) ("[T]he Investigations Officer must establish just 
cause at disciplinary hearings by a fair preponderance of the 
evidence."). 

I. THE CHARGES 

The Investigations Officer charged Respondent Friedman as 
follows: 

CHARGE 
While a suspended member of IBT Local 507, 

[Friedman] brought reproach upon the IBT, interfered with 
and induced others to interfere with the performance of 
the Union's legal obligations and violated [his] 
membership oath in violation of Article II, Section 2(a) 
and Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1), (2) and (5) of the IBT 
Constitution, to wit: 

On March 13, 1990, United States District Judge 
Edelstein affirmed the Independent Administrator's 
decision suspending [Friedman] from all IBT-affiliated 
positions for one year and ordered that [he] not 
participate in any IBT related activity from March 13, 
1990 to March 13, 1991. Beginning in January 1991 and 
continuing to the present, [Friedman's] convictions for 
embezzling Union funds and conspiring to and conducting 
the affairs of an enterprise through a pattern of 
racketeering in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1962(c) and (d), 
prohibited [him] pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §504 from, among 
other things, advising any labor organization and from 
acting as a consultant or advisor to any labor 
organization. 

Friedman had his own counsel, and the remaining Respondents 
were jointly represented by one attorney. 
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[Friedman] interjected [himself] in the affairs of 
IBT Local 507 despite these prohibitions against [his] 
Union activity. For example, on October 27, 1990, 
[Friedman] attended the Local 507 Riser Foods contract 
ratification meeting and spoke to the members on the 
issue of ratification of the contract. At other times, 
[Friedman] advised and instructed on and discussed Union 
matters with Local 507 business agents and Executive 
Board members at the Union hall and other locations. In 
many ways, [Friedman] broadcasted the appearance that 
[he] continued to maintain influence and control over 
Local 507 affairs. 
The Investigations Officer charged the remaining Respondents 

as follows: 
CHARGE 

While [officers and agents] of IBT Local 507, 
[Respondents] brought reproach upon the IBT, interfered 
with and allowed others to interfere with the performance 
of the Union's legal obligations and violated [their] 
oath in violation of Article II, Section 2(a) and Article 
XIX, Section 7(b)(1), (2) and (5) of the IBT 
Constitution, to wit: 

On March 13, 1990, United States District Court 
Judge Edelstein affirmed the Independent Administrator's 
decision suspending Harold Friedman ("Friedman") from all 
IBT-affiliated positions for one year and ordered that 
Friedman not participate in any IBT related activity from 
March 13, 1990 to March 13, 1991. Beginning in January 
1991 and continuing to the present, Friedman's 
convictions for embezzling Union funds and conspiring to 
and conducting the affairs of an enterprise through a 
pattern of racketeering in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1962 
(c) and (d), prohibited him, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §504, 
from advising any labor organization. Paragraph E(10) of 
the Consent Order permanently enjoined [Respondent 
officers and agents] and all other IBT members from 
knowingly associating with a person enjoined from 
participating in Union affairs. 

Despite these prohibitions against Friedman's Union 
activity and the injunction prohibiting [Respondent 
Officers and Agents] from knowingly associating with him, 
from March 1990 to the present, [Respondent Officers and 
Agents] permitted Friedman to interject himself in the 
affairs of IBT Local 507. For example, on October 27, 
1990, Friedman attended the Local 507 Riser Foods 
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contract ratification meeting and spoke to the members on 
the issue of ratification of the contract. At other 
times, Friedman advised and instructed on and discussed 
Union matters with Local 507 business agents and 
Executive Board members at the Union hall and at other 
locations. 

In many ways, [Respondent Officers and Agents] 
encouraged and broadcasted the appearance that Friedman 
continued to maintain influence and control over Local 
507 affairs. 

II. THE IBT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS 
The charges against Respondents implicate two provisions of 

the IBT Constitution. The first is Article XIX, Section 7(b), 
which sets forth a non-exhaustive list of grounds for bringing 
disciplinary charges. That list includes: 

(1) Violation of any specific provision of the 
Constitution, Local Union Bylaws or rules of order, or failure 
to perform any of the duties specified thereunder. 

(2) Violation of oath of office or of the oath of 
loyalty to the Local Union and International Union. 

* * * 

(5) Conduct which is disruptive of, interferes with, or 
induces others to disrupt or interfere with, the performance 
of any Union's legal or contractual obligations. Causing or 
participating in an unauthorized strike or work stoppage. 
Article II, Section 2(a), is also implicated. This section, 

which contains the oath of office mentioned in Article XIX, Section 
7(b) (2), mandates that all members shall conduct themselves "at 
all times in such a manner as not to bring reproach upon the Union 
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III. BACKGROUND 
A. Friedman's 1990 One-Year Suspension 
On January 11, 1990, I issued a Decision in the matter of 

Investigations Officer v. Friedman and Hughes. See 10-2.^ in 
Friedman and Hughes, the Investigations Officer had charged 
Friedman with bringing reproach upon the IBT by virtue of his 
having: (1) embezzled funds from Bakery, Confectionery and Tobacco 
Workers International Union, Local 19 ("Bakers Local 19"), in 1981 
while he was the President of that Local; (2) conspired to and 
engaged in racketeering activity in connection with Bakers Local 
19; and (3) filed a false form LM-2 with the Department of Labor on 
behalf of Bakers Local 19. 

In my 1990 Decision in Friedman and Hughes. I found that the 
Investigations Officer had proved the charges against Friedman. As 
a penalty, I ordered Friedman "to remove [himself] from all of 
[his] IBT affiliated Union positions and draw no money or 
compensation therefrom, or from any other IBT affiliated source," 
for a period of one-year. 10-2 at 48. I voluntarily stayed my 
Decision and the penalty imposed pending review by the Honorable 
David N. Edelstein, United States District Judge for the Southern 
District of New York. On March 13, 1990, Judge Edelstein affirmed 
my ruling, at which time the one-year suspension commenced. See 
United States v. IBT. 735 F.Supp. 506 (S.D.N.Y. 1990) (entered in 
this matter as 10-3). Judge Edelstein's Decision was subsequently 

3 The Investigations Officer's exhibits are referred to as "10," 
followed by the exhibit number and page reference, if appropriate. 



affirmed by the United States Court of Appeals for the Second 
Circuit. United States v. IBT. 905 F.2d 610 (2d Cir. 1990) 
(entered in this matter as 10-4). At the time his one-year 
suspension commenced, Friedman was serving both as President of IBT 
Local 507 and as President of Bakers Local 19. T770-2 to T770-
11.4 The one-year suspension (by its terms and as limited by my 
jurisdiction), affected only Friedman's relationship with IBT-
affiliated entities. 

B. Friedman's Three-Year Disability 

The conduct that Friedman had been engaged in with Bakers 
Local 19 which resulted in my having suspended him for one-year 
from his IBT positions in 1990, also formed the basis of Friedman's 
criminal conviction in 1989 in the United States District Court for 
the Northern District of Ohio in the matter of United States v. 
Friedman, et al.. 86 Cr. 114. 

As a result of Friedman's 1989 criminal conviction, beginning 
on January 3, 1991, and continuing to January 3, 1994, Friedman is 
prohibited from (among other labor-related activities) acting as a 
consultant or advisor to any labor organization, pursuant to 29 
U.S.C. §504. See. Justice Department's January 19, 1991, Debarment 
Letter, attached as "Exhibit B" to Friedman's Motion to Dismiss 
Disciplinary Charge of Investigations Officer, dated September 25, 

^ All transcript references are to the hearing held before me. 
The citation refers to the transcript page number followed by the 
line number. In this instance, "T770-2 to T770-11" refers to 
transcript page 770, lines 2 through 11. 
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1992; Friedman's post-hearing brief at 13. This bar affects 
Friedman's relationship with both IBT Local 507 and Bakers Local 
19. 

C. The Relationship Between IBT Local 507 and Bakers 
Local 19 

At is point, some background on the relationship between IBT 
Local 507 and Bakers Local 19 is helpful. The two Unions, although 
separate entities, are run almost as one. They share the same 
office space and personnel. See, e.g., 10-36 at 23-26; 10-35 at 
21-22; 10-33 at 43-44; T131-9 to T132-17. See also Respondent 
Officers' and Agents' post-hearing brief at 5. They run many joint 
events. See, e.g.. 10-8; 10-9; 10-52; 10-53; 10-55; T778-2 to 
T786-8. See also Respondent Officers' and Agents' post-hearing 
brief at 46, 49. Most significantly, they share the same Executive 
Board, Business Agents, and President. See, e.g., 10-8; 10-9; 10-
52. See also Friedman's post-hearing brief at 17-26. Thus, the 
officers and agents charged in this matter were officers and agents 
of both IBT Local 507 and Bakers Local 19 at all times relevant to 
this case. Id. 

IV. MERITS OF THE CHARGES 

For the reasons set forth herein, I find that Friedman, with 
the knowledge, acquiescence, and/or assistance of Respondent 
Officers and Agents, played a significant role in the running of 
IBT Local 507 during his one-year suspension. Further, I find that 
Friedman, with the knowledge, acquiescence, and/or assistance of 
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Respondent Officers and Agents, held himself out as a figure of 
continuing authority in IBT Local 507 during his suspension. 
Finally, I find that Friedman, with the knowledge, acquiescence, 
and/or assistance of Respondent Officers and Agents, continued to 
advise IBT Local 507 and Bakers Local 19 after the date that he was 
barred from serving ''as a consultant or advisor to any labor 
organization" by virtue of 29 U.S.C. §504. 

A. Respondent Friedman 
1. Scope of Friedman's IBT Suspension 

My one-year suspension of Friedman did not include suspension 
of Friedman's IBT membership. In suspending Friedman I ordered 
that, for one-year, he was "to remove [himself] from all of [his] 
IBT-affiliated Union positions and draw no money or compensation 
therefrom, or from any other IBT-affiliated source." 10-2 at 48. 
I did not state that Friedman was "to remove himself from all of 
his IBT-affiliated Union positions (including membership in the 
IBT)." Cf. Investigations Officer v. Salerno. Decision of the 
Independent Administrator at 16 (September 30, 1992); 
Investigations Officer v. Adelstein. Decision of the Independent 
Administrator at 24 (September 14, 1992); Investigations Officer v. 
Chiavola. Decision of the Independent Administrator at 14 (March 
25, 1992); Investigations Officer v. Wilson, Dickens, and Weber. 
Decision of the Independent Administrator at 26 (December 23, 
1991); Investigations Officer v. Triviono, Decision of the 
Independent Administrator at 27 (March 12, 1991); Investigations 
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Officer v. Vitale, Decision of the Independent Administrator at 39 
(December 18, 1990). Thus, in suspending Friedman from all of his 
"IBT-affiliated Union positions," I intended only that Friedman was 
to remove himself from those positions he held with the IBT. I did 
not intend to suspend his IBT membership as well. 

In affirming my decision, Judge Edelstein stated that "this 
Court will lift the voluntary stay on the penalty imposed by the 
Independent Administrator so that the suspension becomes effective 
immediately." 10-3 at 29-30. In so doing, it is clear that Judge 
Edelstein did not intend to modify my suspension order. Therefore, 
as of March 13, 1990, Friedman was suspended, for a period of one-
year, from all of his IBT-affiliated Union positions, but he was 
not suspended from membership in the IBT. 

a. Friedman's Violation of his IBT Suspension 
With the parameters of Friedman's suspension thus defined, I 

now examine whether or not he violated the terms of his suspension. 
One who has been suspended from "all IBT-affiliated positions" 

must relinquish all such offices. This Friedman did. Friedman's 
post-hearing brief at 15; Respondent Officers' and Agents' post-
hearing brief at 34-35. However, simply removing oneself from 
office is not enough to comply with a suspension order. 

In order for a suspension from the IBT to have any effect 
whatsoever, it must be implemented in both substance and form. In 
other words, Union power must be relinquished through all channels 
— de lure and de facto; legitimate and illegitimate; denotative 
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